#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**CASE NO. SC06-2176** 

#### DWAYNE IRWIN PARKER,

Appellant,

v.

#### STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

#### **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

NEAL A. DUPREE Capital Collateral Regional Counsel-Southern Region

SUZANNE KEFFER Assistant CCRC

BARBARA L. COSTA CCRC Staff Attorney

Captial Collateral Regional Counsel South 101 N.E. 3rd Avenue. Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A Broward County grand jury indicted Mr. Parker on one count of first-degree murder, two counts of attempted first-degree murder and nine counts of armed robbery. See Parker v. State, 641 So. 2d 369, 372 (Fla. 1994). After the Broward County Public Defender's office conflicted off Mr. Parker's case, Mr. Bo Hitchcock and Mr. Theodore Booras were appointed as special public defenders. Trial Counsel represented Mr. Parker in his criminal trial before the Honorable

Leroy Moe in the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in Florida from April 30 to May 9, 1990 (R. 2026). The facts alleged at trial were as follows:

On April 22, 1989, after spending the day together consuming large quantities of alcohol, Mr. Parker and Ladson Marvin Preston robbed the manager and the patrons of a Pizza Hut in Pompano Beach (R. 2220-2221). After the police arrived and entered the restaurant, Mr. Parker fled the scene and ran into the street, where Keith Mallow was driving his car with his family. Mr. Parker fired one shot trying to stop the car, which swerved into some parked cars. Mr. Parker continued to flee, while Deputy Killen pursued him on foot and at least two deputies gave chase in patrol cars. At this point, Mr. Nicholson was shot. He died of a single shot to the abdomen.

Tammy Duncan, the only eyewitness to Mr. Nicholson's shooting, heard a gunshot while watching television at home (R. 1183). While outside, Ms. Duncan saw Mr. Parker running with a gun in his hand (R. 1184-85). Ms. Duncan saw officers arrive a minute or two after Mr. Nicholson was shot; one of them got out of the car, picked Mr. Nicholson up and patted him down (R. 1188-89). Tammy Duncan saw Mr. Parker 60-70 feet away from Mr. Nicholson at the time he was shot (R. 1231). Deputy Kevin McNesby and his dog pursued and aided in arresting Mr. Parker (R. 1250-54). Deputy McNesby came upon Mr. Nicholson staggering in the intersection (R. 1246-47). He stopped his car, and Mr. Nicholson collapsed

on the trunk (R. 1247). He saw no officers around (R. 1247-48). Deputy Killen rounded a corner and saw Mr. Nicholson sitting and bleeding in the road. Mr. Nicholson pointed in the direction in which Mr. Parker had fled, and the deputy continued the chase (R. 1498-99). He and other officers found Mr. Parker lying near a house (R. 1498).

Sargent Edward Baker, in a squad car, saw two men running (R. 1526). Turning a corner, he saw Mr. Nicholson on the ground and Mr. Parker running to the southwest (R. 1527). Sargent Baker saw Mr. Parker 10-15 feet from Mr. Nicholson and did not see anything in Mr. Parker's hand (R. 1529). Nor did he see any cars (R. 1532). Mr. Parker was arrested and taken to the Broward County Sheriff's office where he was charged on April 23, 1989.

Mr. Hitchcock conceded that Mr. Parker was guilty of the armed robbery but did not shoot Mr. Nicholson (R. 1921). Trial counsel argued that Mr. Parker's case was the case of the "missing silver bullet" (R. 935). There was a dispute of fact as to whether the fatal bullet was silver-colored—the color of the bullets used by the Broward deputies. Mr. Parker's bullets were allegedly yellow toned. Dr. Michael Bell, the medical examiner, indicated in his autopsy report that "[a] large caliber silver-colored bullet is recovered with very little deformation" was taken from the body (R. 1643). At trial, Dr. Bell testified that his contemporaneous report was wrong because he "didn't look at the bullet properly" (R. 1643-44). At Dr. Bell's

first deposition, he swore that the bullet was a "silver colored bullet with no deformation," and he did not think he cut the bullet with a saw (R. 1644, 1664-65). A handwritten report made before the deposition notes that the bullet was silver with very little deformation (R. 1661-62).

The State presented the testimony of Detective Cerat who received the fatal bullet from Dr. Bell, photographed it, and put it in envelope sealed with a single piece of tape (R. 1560, 1566). Additionally, he photographed the bullet while still in the sacrum, which was presented at trial as State's Exhibit 115 (R. 1561). State's Exhibit 116 was a photograph of a yellow bullet, which Detective Cerat identified as the bullet put in the sealed envelope (R. 1561-63). Dr. Cerat explained the fact that Exhibit 115 showed a white bullet as the result of lighting in the autopsy room and the strobe light used to take the picture (R. 1565). Detective Cerat did not note any stippling around the wound (R. 1591). Dr. Bell, on the other hand, noted stippling, which indicated that the shot was fired from between two inches and two feet (R. 1632).

The State also presented the testimony of firearms expert Patrick Garland who testified that the bullet the State's claimed was found in the victim's body was the fired from Mr. Parker's gun (R. 1776). Well into the trial, the State gave notice of a newly retained expert in forensic pathology, Dr. Besant-Matthews (R. 1426-28). After argument and proffer, the court ruled that it would not allow Dr. Besant-

Matthews testify in the state's case-in-chief, but would allow him testify "on rebuttal if there's any defense." (R. 1152-53, 1610-12<sup>1</sup>, 1754). The trial court did allow into evidence three photographic prints that the state had not provided in discovery (R. 1750-52, 1793-98). Trial counsel presented no expert or other defense witnesses during the guilt phase. Trial counsel attempted to get a continuance to Mr. Parker's sentencing hearing in order to call a photography expert (R. 2334). On May 10, 1990, the jury returned a verdict finding him guilty on the murder and armed robbery charges and of the lesser offense of aggravated battery with a firearm on the two counts of attempted murder. See Parker at 373; (R. 2026).

On May 25, 1990, approximately two weeks after the verdict was issued, the Court conducted a brief (one-day) penalty phase (R. 2091-2317). During the penalty phase, trial counsel presented the testimony of six witnesses, including: (1) Howard Finkelstein and (2) Carlton Moore, investigators for previous counsel; (3) trial counsel's investigator, Cary Kultau; (4) Mr. Parker's mother, Marion Sanders; (5) Dr. Glenn Caddy, trial counsel's mental health expert; and (6) Ladson Marvin

There was argument regarding the admission of a photographic print that were "a whole different color rendition" from prints provided in discovery (unlike the discovery prints, the objected-to prints cast the fatal bullet significantly more yellow-toned.) The prints were to be used in Dr. Besant-Matthews testimony. The trial court allowed them into evidence subject to further defense argument that they were not provided in discovery.

Preston, Mr. Parker's co-defendant. The judge instructed the jury to weigh the aggravating and the mitigating factors and to render an advisory sentence. By a vote of 8 to 4, the jury recommended that Mr. Parker receive the death sentence (R. 2326). On June 14, 1990, the trial court sentenced Mr. Parker to death (R. 2332). The trial court found four aggravating circumstances: 1) prior violent felony; 2) felony-murder; 3) great risk; and 4) avoid arrest (R. 2026-29, 2325, 2383-92, 2862, 2887-95). The trial court found no mitigating factors because trial counsel failed to establish the facts alleged during penalty phase (R. 2384, 2387, 2390-91).

On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr. Parker's convictions and sentences. See Parker, 641 So. 2d 369 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 944 (1995).

Mr. Parker filed an initial motion for post-conviction relief pursuant to rule 3.850 and 3.851 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure on March 24, 1997 (PC-R1. 1-112). On June 5, 2000, Mr. Parker filed his final Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence with Special request for Evidentiary Hearing (PC-R1. 299-426). The State filed its Response on November 6, 2000 (PC-R1. 469-616). With leave of the court, Mr. Parker filed a Reply on December 15, 2000 (PC-R1. 1150-1172). On April 18 2001, Judge Moe held a hearing pursuant to Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1983). On February 12, 2002, relief was summarily denied (PC-R1. 1484-1532, 1537-58, 1559-80). Mr. Parker timely

appealed. (PC-R1. 1581-82).

On June 11, 2003, Mr. Parker filed his initial brief and a petition for writ of habeas corpus. On March 24, 2005, this Court reversed, in part, the circuit court's summary denial of Mr. Parker's Rule 3.851 claims. This Court remanded Mr. Parker's case for an evidentiary hearing in circuit court on two claims: 1) ineffective of assistance of counsel for failure to either retain or present testimony of a forensic expert to rebut the State's evidence and testimony on the alleged fatal bullet and 2) ineffective assistance of counsel at penalty phase.

On February 16-17, 21-22, 2006 and March 6, 2006, Judge Moe held an evidentiary hearing on the two claims that were the subject of this Court's remand.

Mr. Parker presented the testimony of thirteen witnesses<sup>2</sup> that included:

1. **Mr. Bo Hitchcock**: Mr. Hitchcock was Mr. Parker's lead counsel and testified that he was responsible for Mr. Parker's guilt phase issues (PC-18-20). Mr. Hitchcock testified that he did not consult with or retain any photography experts prior to guilt phase (PC-T. 36-39, 41). Additionally, Mr. Hitchcock did not direct any mitigation investigation to prepare for the penalty phase nor did he

On January 10, 2006, the lower court granted the State's motion to strike four witnesses and precluded Mr. Parker from calling Detective Cerat, Dr. Michael Bell, Dr. Ronald Wright, and State Attorney Michael Satz. PC-R2. 371. Mr. Parker intended to call these witnesses in order to substantiate his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at guilt phase. PC-R2.

retain any of Mr. Parker's background records (PC.T 23-24, 73, 77, 389-90).

- 2. **Mr. Theodore Booras**: Mr. Parker's penalty phase counsel. Mr. Booras could not recall nor were there any records that he interviewed any mitigation witnesses other than Mr. Parker's mother and wife (PC-T. 273-277, 286-287, 411). Mr. Booras did not attempt to obtain any of Mr. Parker's background records for either purposes of pursuing mitigation investigation or providing materials to his mental health expert, Dr. Caddy (Id.) Mr. Booras did not request that Dr. Caddy perform any psychological or neuropsychological testing (PC-T. 410). Mr. Booras presented six witnesses at Mr. Parker's penalty phase (PC-T. 335; R. 2174-2286).
- 3. **Mr. Howard Finkelstein**: Broward County Public Defender investigator who began an initial mitigation investigation on Mr. Parker's case for previous counsel (PC-T. 191-192).
- 4. **Mr. Carlton Moore**: Broward County Public Defender investigator who worked with Howard Finkelstein and made initial contact with witnesses from Mr. Parker's background in Jacksonville, Florida (PC-T. 206-207).
- 5. **Mr. Cary Kultau**: Investigator hired by trial counsel to investigate guiltphase issues (PC-T. 21).
- 6. **Dr. Glenn Caddy**: Mental health expert hired by trial counsel to conduct competency and sanity evaluation and conducted a psychological screener on Mr. Parker (PC-T. 84, 288, 410). Dr. Caddy did not find that Mr. Parker met any

statutory mitigators at trial (R. 2299).

- 7. **Ms. Princess Ferrette**: Mr. Parker's closest sibling who grew up with him in Jacksonville, Florida. Ms. Ferrette and lived with Mr. Parker during the periods of time they were able to live with their mother, Marion Sanders, who suffered from paranoid schizophrenia. She testified to the abuse that both she and Mr. Parker suffered at home and while living in foster care including bizarre episodes where their mother withheld food from them because she believed it was poisoned and being beaten by multiple men that would stay in the home with them (PC-T. 233-234, 238-240).
- 8. **Ms. Virginia Holcombe**: A family friend who was involved in committing Mr. Parker's mother to mental institutions on multiple occasions. Ms. Holcomb knew Mr. Parker as he grew up in Jacksonville, Florida during the period of time he lived in and out of foster care and recalled that he would runaway from the homes due to the physical abuse he endured (PC-T. 217-219, 222-224).
- 9. **Mr. Gregory Pender**: Mr. Parker's childhood friend who witnessed Mr. Parker being sexually assaulted by other boys multiple times (PC-T. 257-258). Mr. Pender recalled that one occasion that Mr. Parker was sexually assaulted, he suffered from a ruptured rectum (Id.).
- 10. **Dr. Larry Richardson**: Mr. Parker's child protective services worker while Mr. Parker was in the State foster care system. Dr. Richardson had to remove Mr.

Parker from his mother's home on numerous occasions. Dr. Richardson testified that he initially began to work with Mr. Parker when he was eleven years old at the Diagnostic and Assessment Unit that was operated by an organization called the Child Guidance Center (PC-T. 350, 353-54). Dr. Richardson testified that at the time he was suffering from "selective mutism" caused by a severe trauma and he did not speak for sixty days (PC-T. 356-57).

- 11. **Dr. David Pickar**: Mr. Parker's psychiatric expert who specialized in schizophrenia. Dr. Pickar found that Mr. Parker suffered from frontal lobe brain damage and low intellectual functioning and that Mr. Parker inherited the effects of schizophrenia genetically from his mother (PC-T. 480-88)
- 12. **Dr. Jethro Toomer**: Mr. Parker's psychological expert who concluded that Mr. Parker suffered from a major mental personality disorder and that the effects of Mr. Parker's psychological deficits were of long-standing duration from being exposed to a psychologically dangerous environment for a significant period of time (PC-T. 570-572).
- 13. **Dr. Barry Crown**: Mr. Parker's neuropsychological expert who conducted intelligence testing and neuropsychological testing and found that Mr. Parker suffered from right hemisphere/frontal lobe brain damage (PC-T. 645-650).

Following the evidentiary hearing, the lower court denied Mr. Parker's Rule 3.850 motion on September 13, 2006 and issued its order on September 27, 2006

(PC-R2. 348-354). Mr. Parker timely filed his notice of appeal on October 23, 2006 (PC-R2. 355).

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

**ARGUMENT I**: Trial counsel afforded constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel to Mr. Parker at his penalty phase. Due to trial counsel's constitutionally inadequate and perfunctory investigation of mitigation, trial counsel failed to adequately investigate Mr. Parker's family history or present or retain adequate mental health expert testimony. As a result, crucial mitigation evidence of Mr. Parker's impoverished, brutal, and chaotic background was not presented at Mr. Parker's penalty phase.

**ARGUMENT II**: Trial counsel afforded constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel to Mr. Parker by failing to present expert testimony during Mr. Parker's guilt phase. Due to trial counsel's inadequate preparation for trial, trial counsel failed to present testimony or retain necessary experts to challenge the State's experts and evidence alleging that Mr. Parker shot the fatal bullet. As a result, crucial evidence that Mr. Parker was not responsible for shooting the fatal bullet and that the State's experts' testimony and evidence presented was invalid was not presented at Mr. Parker's guilt phase.

**ARGUMENT III**: Mr. Parker was denied a full and fair hearing before a fair and impartial judge in violation of the due process clause of the Federal

Constitution. The lower court erred in denying Mr. Parker's motion to disqualify when it became apparent that the court was exhibiting a specifically racially charged bias against Mr. Parker during the evidentiary hearing. Additionally, the lower court erred when it denied Mr. Parker the opportunity to call four relevant witnesses to his claim that trial counsel was ineffective at guilt phase.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### **ARGUMENT I**

# THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING MR. PARKER'S CLAIM THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE DURING PENALTY PHASE

The performance of Mr. Parker's trial counsel fell well below constitutionally mandated standards with respect to the penalty phase. Mr. Parker's trial counsel, Mr. Bo Hitchcock (lead counsel) and Mr. Theodore Booras (penalty phase counsel), were appointed to his case as special public defenders after Warner Olds of the Broward County Public Defenders Office withdrew due to a conflict. Both Mr. Hitchcock and Mr. Booras were ineffective in their representation due to the fact that they all but ignored the preparation necessary to prepare for Mr. Parker's sentencing. Their ineffectiveness lied in the fact that rather than engage in the required and necessary investigation to prepare a comprehensive presentation of Mr. Parker's background they chose to merely rely on the preliminary investigation conducted by previous counsel. Neither Mr. Hitchcock

nor Mr. Booras engaged in even the most rudimentary investigation that would have developed evidence crucial for Mr. Parker's penalty phase. Counsel failed to develop any significant evidence for sentencing despite being explicitly aware of the possible mitigation that existed.

As explained by the United States Supreme Court, an ineffective assistance of counsel claim is comprised of two components:

First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable.

<u>Williams v. Taylor</u>, 120 S. Ct. 1495, 1511 (2000), <u>quoting Strickland v.</u> <u>Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984).

In <u>Williams</u>, the Supreme Court found deficient performance where counsel failed to prepare for the penalty phase of a capital case until shortly before trial, "failed to conduct an investigation that would have uncovered extensive records," "failed to seek prison records," and "failed to return phone calls of a certified public accountant." <u>Williams</u>, 120 S. Ct. at 1514.

The United States Supreme Court further explained the obligations of trial counsel in a capital case in <u>Wiggins v. Smith</u>, 123 S. Ct. 2527 (2003). In <u>Wiggins</u>, the Supreme Court addressed counsel's decision to limit the scope of the

investigation into potential mitigating evidence and the reasonableness of that decision. The Court stated:

[A] court must consider not only the quantum of evidence already known to counsel, but also whether the known evidence would lead a reasonable attorney to investigate further. Even assuming [trial counsel] limited the scope of their investigation for strategic reasons, *Strickland* does not establish that a cursory investigation automatically justifies a tactical decision with respect to sentencing strategy. Rather, a reviewing court must consider the reasonableness of the investigation said to support that strategy.

Wiggins, 123 S. Ct. at 2538 (emphasis added).

The obligations of trial counsel in investigating and preparing for a capital penalty phase were again addressed in <u>Rompilla v. Beard</u>, 125 S. Ct. 2456 (2005). In <u>Rompilla</u>, the Supreme Court held,

"when a capital defendant's family members and the defendant himself have suggested that no mitigating evidence is available, his lawyer is bound to make reasonable efforts to obtain and review material that counsel knows the prosecution will probably rely on as evidence of aggravation at the sentencing phase of trial."

<u>Id</u>. at 2460 (emphasis added). At issue was trial counsel's neglect in obtaining the file regarding a prior violent felony conviction, which was to be used as an aggravating circumstance against Mr. Rompilla.

Mr. Rompilla's counsel had spoken to their client and family members on several occasions but had not received any helpful mitigation evidence. Mr. Rompilla was evaluated by mental health experts prior to trial in an effort to find mitigation evidence. See Rompilla, 125 S. Ct. at 2461. However, the Supreme

Court found that trial counsel's efforts fell below an objective standard of reasonableness for failing to obtain records which would have provided significant "mitigation leads." <u>Id</u>. at 2468.

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