IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC06-2176

DWAYNE IRWIN PARKER

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE

......

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

......

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Leslie T. Campbell
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No.: 0066631
1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
Telephone (561) 837-5000
Facsimile (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

Sub-issue A - Recusal - Pursuant to Gore v. State, 32 Fla.

L. Weekly S438 (Fla. July 5, 2007):

A motion to disqualify is governed substantively by 38.10, Florida section Statutes (2005),and procedurally Florida Rule by of Administration 2.330. The rule provides that a motion to disqualify shall show that "the party fears that he or she will not receive a fair trial or hearing because of specifically described prejudice or bias of the judge" ... Fla. R. Jud. Admin. 2.330(d). The standard of review of a trial judge's determination on a motion to disqualify is de novo. See Chamberlain v. State, 881 So.2d 1087, 1097 (Fla. 2004), cert. denied, 544 U.S. 930, 125 S.Ct. 1669, 161 L.Ed.2d 495 (2005). Whether the motion is legally sufficient is a question of law. See Barnhill v. State, 834 So.2d 836, 843 (Fla. 2002). The standard for determining the legal

sufficiency of a motion to disqualify is whether the facts alleged, which must be assumed to be true, would cause the movant to have a well-founded fear that he or she will not receive a fair trial at the hands of that judge. See Fla. R. Jud. Admin. 2.330(d)(1).

"[S]ubjective fears...are not 'reasonably sufficient' to justify a 'well-founded fear' of prejudice." <u>Fischer v. Knuck</u>, 497 So. 2d 240, 242 (Fla. 1986).

Here, Parker makes the incendiary claim of racial bias because the court refused to allow a death sentenced defendant to sit at counsel table, but permitted him to remain in the jury box and had counsel's table abut the jury box. Parker also claims that the court's alleged bias was evident because he was ordered to remain shackled, defense counsel was admonished not to lean over the railing of the jury box, and the court voiced concern because he did not know all of the parties approaching the defendant. These allegations

Judge Moe, assigned to the Circuit Civil Division and sitting in a "extremely" insecure civil courtroom, was presiding over Parker's capital postconviction case because he was the sentencing judge. At the outset of the first day of the postconviction evidentiary hearing, Parker, an inmate under a sentence of death, was placed in the jury box by the Broward Sheriff Office ("BSO") deputy assigned to his transportation/security. The deputy was ordered to sit in the jury box with Parker (2-PCR.3 8-10). It was agreed that

counsel's table would be moved to the jury box so counsel and client could confer. Further, at defense counsel's request, the issue of Parker's wrist shackling was visited. It was the deputy's request that the wrist shackles not be removed, because the waist chains then would be of no use, and it was BSO's procedure to transport the defendant in such a manner. (2-PCR.3 8-9). Judge Moe agreed with BSO's security procedures, but verified that such did not "fall over the line on something unconstitutional, lack of due process." (2-PCR.3 9)

With that concern in mind, Judge Moe noted: "Obviously, you have the opportunity to confer with [Parker] in private, and of course, I urge you to do that. If he needs to write, give him a pencil and give him a pad. I know from seeing him as he is, now, and from prior experience, he can write with a pencil and a pad the way he is now." Defense counsel replied: "I asked him if he would be able to do that and he did say he could do it, so, if I could give him a pen and paper, that's okay." (2-PCR.3 9-10). Additionally, the record was clarified that counsel's table had been moved next to the jury box "so counsel should be able to confer easily with their client." Judge Moe recognized: "The bottom line is, the defense has complete access to the defendant prisoner, and the sheriff is satisfied with the security arrangements in this extremely, let's say, insecure courtroom setting." (2-PCR.3 10).

On the third day of the evidentiary hearing, Judge Moe admonished defense counsel for leaning over the jury box railing. The following transpired:

THE COURT: Don't lean over that rail.

MS. COSTA: I'm sorry. It's just hard for me to hear him.

MS. KEFFER: Judge, I'm going to object.

THE COURT: I'll give you enough time, energy, space to talk to him all you want to. Don't lean over the railing, please.

MS. KEFFER: For purpose of the record, Judge, it is difficult for us to communicate with Mr. Parker being in the jury box.

THE COURT: That's why I said I will give you all the time, energy, space you need to talk to him. I'm adamant about that. Deputy, will you state your name for the record.

. . .

THE COURT: Well, I appreciate you keeping your eye on things, I'm watching you, I know that you have the security of everybody in your mind ... That doesn't mean that I consider the defendant an escape risk, or anything else, but there's people in here that I don't know that I know are connected to him that, let's say, security issues jump to my mind, and I'm going to protect everybody as much as I can.

MS. KEFFER: I understand that, your Honor. If you have any concerns, though, you mentioned people that are connected to him, the only person that I know of is my investigator that works for CCRC and has no personal connection to Mr. Parker whatsoever. So, as long as that's on the record...

THE COURT: Well, I'm not going to debate that, but I know when he came in he looked at him, smiled, and had enough eye contact for me to know that they're more

than just - let's say they're connected in some way, either professionally or personally.

MS. KEFFER: I just wanted it clear for the record.

THE COURT: Security is my main concern in here and I'm not going to back down from that.

MS. KEFFER: I respect what your Honor is saying. I just wanted it clear for the record that the person sitting directly behind me is my investigator from my office -

THE COURT: I know who he is.

MS. KEFFER: -- a state employee, that is a professional.

(2-PCR.7 531-33) At the conclusion of the Dr. Pickar's cross-examination, the following took place:

THE COURT: All right. Being 10:00 o'clock, do you want to confer with the defendant before you have any redirect?

MS. KEFFER: Yes, your Honor. I believe [Parker] has written some notes. Am I allowed to take a note from the defendant?

THE COURT: Within reason, sure.

MS. KEFFER: I just probably need a couple of minutes.

. . .

MS. KEFFER: Am I allowed to step on the other side of the jury box? Otherwise, everybody else in the courtroom can hear.

THE COURT: No. He's in the custody of the Sheriff of Broward County, and basically she's going to make the rules. Obviously I don't want you walking around with the gun, Deputy, I'm sure you know that.

THE ARMED DEPUTY: I'm sorry?

THE COURT: I said I don't want you walking around like the other deputies have been doing, walking right by him wearing a side arm. I make no apology for this, I'm concerned about security, and I'm concerned mostly about your security.

MS. KEFFER: Well your Honor, I'm not concerned with my security with my client, I have no question about that.

THE COURT: Well, I'll be concerned for you.

MS. KEFFER: And for the record, it's very difficult to communicate with him if I can't even step around the bar. To be able to talk quietly so that nobody else can hear is extremely difficult.

THE COURT: Nobody else is going to be listening to what you're saying.

MS. KEFFER: Well, I don't know that I believe that, your Honor.

THE COURT: Really? Who do you think is going to listen in on the conversation?

MS. KEFFER: I don't know what he has to say to me, your Honor.

MS. MCCANN: Your Honor, the State will leave the courtroom for ten minutes so that CCR can consult.

THE COURT: Do you really think they're going to listen in on the conversation between you and the defendant?

MS. KEFFER: I don't know what it is that my client wants to consult with me about. And, no, I don't want to take the risk that somebody will overhear something.

THE COURT: All right. At any rate, security at this time when I leave the courtroom is up to the Sheriff of Broward County through its deputies. You can talk to him, do whatever you have to to communicate, within the right of counsel.

(2-PCR.3 544-46). Following this, the State left the courtroom.

Subsequently, Parker filed a motion to recuse the trial court. (2-PCR.2 153-68). Prior to the beginning of testimony on the next hearing day, Judge Moe announced that he had read the motion and that it was legally insufficient. (2-PCR.8 637). Once the court had ruled, the State asked that the record reflect that the defense had moved the counsel table against the jury box. (2-PCR.8 638-39).

As this Court is well aware, Rule 2.160 (c)-(f) Florida Rules of Judicial Administration governs the resolution of this issue. While the purpose of the rule is "to ensure public confidence in the integrity of the judicial system," caution must be taken "to prevent the disqualification process from being abused for the purpose of judge-shopping, delay, or some other reason not related to providing for the fairness and impartiality of the proceeding." Livingston v. State, 441 So. 2d 1083, 1086 (Fla. 1983). See Correll v. State, 698 So.2d 522, 524 (Fla. 1997).

The pith of Parker's complaint was that he remained shackled during a postconviction evidentiary hearing, was not permitted to sit at counsel table, although the table was up against the jury box where he was sitting. He also complains that Judge Moe showed bias because he rebuked defense counsel when she leaned over the jury box railing, and voiced concern

for the security of the courtroom in an "extremely" insecure courtroom and because he did not know all the parties involved with Parker. Once it was explained, outside the courtroom, it is alleged Judge Moe offered the CCR investigator, Christopher Taylor, an apology for any confusion.

It is well settled that the trial court is responsible for orderly functioning of the courtroom which the includes Dignity, order, and decorum in the courtroom is essential to the proper administration of criminal justice. Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 343 (1970). Under proper circumstances, a trial court's duty to maintain courtroom safety and security outweighs the risk that the defendant's presumption of innocence may be impaired. Diaz v. State, 513 So.2d 1045, 1047 (Fla. 1987), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 1079 (1988). Court has held that shackling is permissible to be used even during the guilt/innocent phase of trial in the sound discretion of the trial court when circumstances involving the security and safety of the proceeding warrant it. See Weaver v. State, 894 So.2d 178 (Fla. 2004); Bryant v. State, 785 So. 2d 422, 428 (Fla. 2001); Derrick v. State, 581 So. 2d 31, 35 (Fla. 1991); Correll v. Dugger, 558 So. 2d 422 (Fla. 1990); Diaz v. State, 513 So.2d 1045, 1047 (Fla.1987) Harrell v. Israel, 672 F.2d 632, 635-36 (7th Cir. 1992).

Parker was before the trial court on remand for a limited

evidentiary hearing on two claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. Not only were no jurors present, but the conviction and sentence were final, this court had denied collateral relief on all of Parker's other postconviction claims. Given this procedural history, no reasonable person would be in fear of not receiving a fair hearing merely because the court was concerned about security and did not have to take into account the possible innocence of the defendant nor the jury's perception.

The record reflects that from the outset, the trial court was concerned about security in his "extremely" insecure civil He took steps to maintain that security, while noting and giving effect to Parker's due process rights to confer with counsel. The mere fact that the court would keep a death sentenced defendant in shackles or admonish counsel for compromising the courtroom security are not factors which would give a reasonable person a "well-founded fear that he or she will not receive a fair trial at the hands of that judge." Likewise, merely because in reciting his security concerns, Judge Moe pointed to a person to whom he had not been introduced, but who clearly had a "connection" to the defendant as a possible security risk in the "extremely" insecure civil courtroom, would not put a reasonable person "[S]ubjective fears...are not 'reasonably sufficient' to justify a 'well-founded fear' of prejudice." Fischer, 497 So.2d at 242.

Judge Moe, as is required under the rule, reviewed the motion for legal sufficiency and determined, without further comment, that the motion was insufficient. Such complied with the law and should be affirmed.

Sub-issue B - Parker maintains that it was error for the court to preclude the testimony of: (1) Detective Cerat ("Cerat"), (2) Dr. Michael Bell, (3) Dr. Ronald Wright, and (4) State Attorney Michael Satz on the grounds that such was irrelevant. to the issue on remand, namely, counsel's ineffectiveness for not presenting experts in photography and tool marking. 54 Further, he claims that it was error for the court to grant the State's discovery motion and require Parker to proffer the relevancy of its witnesses before calling them. The trial court, contrary to Parker's position, exercised its discretion properly in making this evidentiary ruling.

"The standard applicable to a trial court's ruling on the admission of evidence is whether there has been an abuse of discretion. See Zack v. State, 911 So.2d 1190 (Fla. 2005). The

The State reincorporates its answer to Issue II above with particular emphasis on the fact that the testimony of Dr. Bell and Cerat as well as the argument and representations of Michael Satz during the trial were a matter of record. Further, no tool marking experts were called to refute what was depicted in the State's evidence, especially the photograph of the bullet while still in the Victim sacrum, was anything other than what was offered at trial. The issue was what defense counsel should have done in response to the evidence, not the re-litigation of the evidence as presented at trial.

trial court's ruling will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of abuse. See Boyd v. State, 910 So.2d 167 (Fla. 2005)." Schoenwetter v. State, 931 So.2d 857, 869 (Fla. 2006).

See Dessaure v. State, 891 So.2d 455, 466 (Fla. 2004); Ray v. State, 755 So. 2d 604 (Fla. 2000; Cole v. State, 701 So.2d 845 (Fla. 1997). Discretion is abused only when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable. Trease v. State, 768 So. 2d 1050, 1053, n. 2 (Fla. 2000), citing Huff v. State, 569 So. 2d 1247, 1249 (Fla. 1990).

Initially, it must be noted that this issue has not been preserved for appeal. While counsel objected to being required to proffer the testimony and to the exclusion of the witnesses (2-PCR.2 371, 382-85), such was insufficient for this Court to review on appeal. In order to properly preserve a claim of erroneously excluded testimony, there must be a proffer of that testimony. See Trease, 768 So.2d at 1054 (finding claim of error unpreserved based on party's failure to have proffered testimony); Finney v. State, 660 So.2d 674, 684 (Fla. (opining "Without a proffer it is impossible for the appellate court to determine whether the trial court's ruling was erroneous and if erroneous what effect the error may have had on the result"); Lucas v. State, 568 So.2d 18, 22 (Fla. 1990) (holding party's failure to proffer witness' excluded testimony renders claim of error for the exclusion unpreserved). First,

no proffers were offered for Dr. Wright or Mr. Satz. Second, in discussing Mr. Satz, postconviction counsel stated: "Michael Satz; he was the prosecutor of this case. At this point I do not anticipate calling him." Third, the proffers for Cerat and Dr. Bell were made in very general terms and did not set forth exactly what the witnesses would say or how their testimony would support the prejudice prong under Strickland as counsel alleged such testimony would support. (2-PCR.2 376-77).

All that counsel offered was:

Robert Cerat; he was the BSO detective in this case that actually took several of the photographs which were in question at trial. The color of the photographs were in question. It goes to the ineffectiveness of counsel for failing to call a photography expert.

Michael Bell was the medical examiner in this case. He also took photographs that were in question at trial. He would go to ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to retain an expert.

(2-PCR.2 376-77). Such does not outline what the witnesses would offer at trial. This matter should be deemed unpreserved. Finney, 660 So.2d at 684 (finding matter unpreserved - defendant never proffered testimony sought from witness and the substance of that testimony is not apparent from the record"). Other than offering that the witnesses would support the Strickland prejudice prong, Parker has not explained how they would show prejudice arising from counsel not obtaining experts.

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